SUPPLEME COMMIT CONV

In the Supreme Court of the State of California

PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA,

Plaintiff and Respondent,

v.

ALBERT TROYER,

Defendant and Appellant.

Case No. S180759

JUN 2 8 2010

turitadi. Clerk

Third Appellate District, Case No. C059889 Sacramento County Superior Court, Case No. 07F06029 The Honorable Laurie M. Earl, Judge

RESPONDENT'S OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

INTRODUCTION

Each day, peace officers face the unknown and the unknowable. They are dispatched to scenes of violence and turmoil, and they must make split-second decisions to provide aid and ensure public safety. Officers are expected to protect victims from further harm and to prevent further crime.

This case arises from a shooting in a residential neighborhood. One undercover officer arrived on the scene three minutes after the 9-1-1 call to find a seriously wounded shooting victim on the front porch of a residence. Another person, suffering from an injury to the head, was strangely evasive and contradictory when the officer asked if anyone else was inside the two-story house. There was no sign of the male shooting victim indicated in the dispatch. Blood was all over the porch, and the particular pattern of blood smears on the front door indicated that someone who was bleeding had gone into or come out of the house. The officer could not see inside the house. Within six minutes of the dispatch, uniformed officers arrived to assist. What were the officers required to do to aid the victims and ensure the safety of everyone at the scene?

Officers do not have the same options as civilians. They cannot peek inside a house, hope for the best, and walk away; they cannot fail to act. What they must do is exactly what the responding officers in this case did: they must go into the house, face the unknown, and eliminate the possibility of an incapacitated victim or an armed suspect hiding behind a locked door.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On June 6, 2007, undercover Elk Grove Police Sergeant Tim Albright heard a radio report of a shooting at 9253 Gem Crest Way in Elk Grove. (RT 3-4.) The report indicated that a man had been shot, possibly twice, and that a two-door Chevrolet was associated with the shooting. (RT 4,

15.) Sergeant Albright was the first to arrive at the scene approximately two minutes after the dispatch. (RT 4, 5, 31.) ¹ Because he did not have protective gear, he temporarily positioned himself down the street from the residence. (RT 4-5.) He did not see the Chevrolet. (RT 5.) He approached the residence and found codefendant Adrien Abeyta walking on the 4' x 10' front porch and another man administering first aid to a woman later identified as Mia Zapata. (RT 5-6, 8, 46.) ² Ms. Zapata had been shot multiple times, and she was screaming. (RT 8, 35-36, 40, 42.) Sergeant Albright provided first aid directions to the man helping her. (RT 40.) There was no sign of the male victim who reportedly had been shot twice. (RT 4, 15.) Nor was there a sign of any suspects. (RT 5.)

The scene was chaotic. (RT 19, 42.) There was blood surrounding the scene, and Sergeant Albright observed multiple blood droplets on the front door and smudges near the handle indicating that someone who was bleeding had come into contact with the door by ingress or egress. (RT 19, 41.) Sergeant Albright did not know who lived in the residence. (RT 7.) Although Abeyta was ambulatory, he was excited and agitated; he appeared to have a head wound, with blood streaming down the back of his head and covering the majority of his face. (RT 6-7.)³ Abeyta gave a description of two male suspects and their vehicle. (RT 7, 16, 20, 38.)

About three minutes after his arrival, Sergeant Albright spoke with Abeyta about going into the residence. (RT 7.) Abeyta was holding a set

The dispatch went out less than one minute after the 9-1-1 call. (RT 31.)

Appellant was not at the scene. His connection to the residence was established at the hearing on the motion to suppress evidence by reference to the preliminary hearing transcript. (RT 60-61.)

³ The record does not indicate that Abeyta had sustained a gunshot wound. (RT 6.) It appears that the parties below knew that he had been pistol-whipped. (See RT 64, 75.)

of keys, which included a key to the front door. (RT 11-12, 22.)⁴ Sergeant Albright asked Abeyta if anybody was in the house. (RT 8-9.) Instead of answering, Abeyta was unresponsive and stared at Sergeant Albright for 15 to 20 seconds. (RT 9.) The sergeant repeated his question, and Abeyta stared at him for a period of time and then said he did not believe there was anybody inside. (RT 9, 21.) Wanting to clarify Abeyta's response, Sergeant Albright asked a third time. (RT 9.) Abeyta again took a long pause, stared at the sergeant, and then said, "No." (RT 9, 21.) Sergeant Albright did not believe that Abeyta was being truthful, and he was concerned that others could be inside. (RT 9-11, 23-24.)

Approximately six minutes after Sergeant Albright first arrived at the scene, uniformed officers in protective gear entered to search for victims and suspects. (RT 14, 22, 42, 47, 50, 54.) ⁵ The entry and search was based on the following circumstances: there had been a very recent violent shooting on the front porch of the residence near the doorway (RT 19, 28, 48); the responding officer did not see the suspects leave the scene (RT 5); there was no sign of a male shooting victim; there were blood droplets and smudges on the front door near the handle caused by someone going into or out of the residence (RT 19, 41, 45); the front door was locked (RT 12); the officers did not know who lived in the house (RT 7, 10); the officers could not see inside the residence because the blinds were down (RT 19); there was chaos and a cacophony of noise at the scene (RT 16, 42, 43); exposed in the front of the house were the apparent victims, emergency personnel, citizen witnesses, and officers (RT 43); and the only person associated with the residence who could speak to Sergeant Albright was not forthcoming

⁴ Respondent will refer to the residence as the "Abeyta residence."

⁵ Abeyta initially refused to give Sergeant Albright the key to the front door. (RT 12.) He provided the key and unlocked the door after Sergeant Albright said he would have to kick it in. (RT 22-23, 54.)

about whether anyone else was inside or was too injured and agitated to provide a reliable answer (RT 11, 23, 25).

After entering, the officers announced their presence and cleared the first floor without finding anyone. (RT 50-51, 55.) They went upstairs looking in places where a person could be found. (RT 51.) Again announcing their presence, they kicked open the locked master bedroom door. (RT 50-52, 55-56.) They found marijuana in plain view. (RT 52.)

An information filed in the Sacramento County Superior Court charged appellant Albert Troyer and codefendant Abeyta with possession of marijuana in violation of Health and Safety Code section 11359 and cultivation of marijuana in violation of Health and Safety Code section 11358. (CT 10-12.)

Appellant filed a motion to suppress evidence pursuant to Penal Code section 1538.5. (CT 72, 92.) The court denied the motion, and appellant pled nolo contendere to both counts and admitted arming allegations. (CT 8, 92.) The court suspended the imposition of judgment and placed appellant on probation for a period of five years with the imposition of a one-year jail term. (CT 119.)

Appellant filed a notice of appeal. (CT 124.) The Court of Appeal reversed the judgment, finding that the entry and cursory search of the upstairs bedroom was not justified under either the emergency aid doctrine or as a protective sweep. (Slip Opn. at 10.) The Court of Appeal denied respondent's petition for rehearing. On April 28, 2010, this Court granted respondent's petition for review.

⁶ The record does not indicate what type of lock was on the bedroom door or whether the door was locked from inside or from the outside.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The warrantless entry and search of the Abeyta residence for potential victims and suspects within minutes of the violent shooting complied with the Fourth Amendment. Under the emergency aid doctrine, the officers lawfully entered and searched the residence based on an objectively reasonable belief that someone inside could be in need of immediate aid. Further, the danger to the officers and everyone exposed in the front of the residence justified a *Buie*⁷ protective sweep for suspects based on reasonable suspicion that a dangerous person could have been hiding inside.

ARGUMENT

I. THE ENTRY INTO THE RESIDENCE AND SEARCH FOR ADDITIONAL VICTIMS OR SUSPECTS COMPLIED WITH THE FOURTH AMENDMENT

Approximately six minutes after responding to an emergency call reporting a shooting, officers went inside the Abeyta residence to search for additional victims and clear the residence for possible suspects. The Court of Appeal ruled that the entry into the residence was lawful but that the search in the upstairs bedroom for additional victims or suspects violated the Fourth Amendment. According to the court, when the officers did not see evidence of a struggle or a trail of blood leading upstairs, they should have turned and left without completing their search. But the officers could not, in fulfilling their duties, leave the residence before ensuring that a victim was not inside or that a shooting suspect was not hiding in any room in the house and possibly endangering the victims, the civilians, and the officers just outside the front door. Respondent submits that the cursory

⁷ Maryland v. Buie (1990) 494 U.S. 325.

search of the upstairs rooms was lawful under the emergency aid doctrine and, also, as a protective sweep.

A. Standard of Review

The standard of review for challenges to a trial court's ruling on a Penal Code section 1538.5 motion to suppress evidence is well settled. This Court reviews the trial court's determination of the historical facts under the "deferential substantial evidence standard" and independently reviews the application of law to the facts. (*People v. Brendlin* (2008) 45 Cal.4th 262, 268.) Then, in "evaluating whether the fruits of a search or seizure should have been suppressed," the Court considers "only the Fourth Amendment's prohibition on unreasonable searches and seizures." (*Ibid.*) The Fourth Amendment provides:

The right of the people to be secure in their persons, houses, papers and effects, against unreasonable searches and seizures, shall not be violated, and no warrants shall issue, but upon probable cause, supported by oath or affirmation, and particularly describing the place to be searched, and the persons or things to be seized.

(U.S. Const., 4th Amend.)

B. The Emergency Aid Doctrine Permitted the Warrantless Entry and Search for Additional Victims

The emergency aid doctrine is generally attributed to the United States Supreme Court decision in *Mincey v. Arizona* (1978) 437 U.S. 385, 392, which recognized that warrantless searches are permitted when officers "reasonably believe that a person within is in need of immediate aid." The reasoning behind the exception is that the "need to protect or preserve life or avoid serious injury is justification for what would be otherwise illegal absent an exigency or emergency." (*Id.* at p. 393, quoting *Wayne v. United States* (D.C. Cir. 1963) 318 F.2d 205, 212 (opinion of Burger, J.). It is now well established that under the emergency aid

doctrine "law enforcement officers may enter a home without a warrant to render emergency assistance to an injured occupant or to protect an occupant from imminent injury." (Brigham City, Utah v. Stuart (2006) 547 U.S. 398, 403.) "Officers do not need ironclad proof of 'a likely serious, life-threatening' injury to invoke the emergency aid exception." (Michigan v. Fisher (2009) 558 U.S. , 130 S.Ct. 546, 549 (per curiam).) All that is required is "an objectively reasonable basis for believing,' that 'a person within [the house] is in need of immediate aid." (Id. at p. 548, quoting Brigham City, Utah v. Stuart, supra, 547 U.S. at p. 403, and Mincey v. Arizona, supra, 437 U.S. at p. 392.) The usual warrant requirement is excused because an emergency situation requiring that officers act immediately to assist "persons who are seriously injured or threatened with such injury" is an "exigency obviating the requirement" of a search warrant. (Brigham City, Utah v. Stuart, supra, 547 U.S. at p. 403.) The Fourth Amendment does not "demand that public safety officials stand by in the face of an imminent danger and delay potential lifesaving measures while critical and precious time is expended obtaining a warrant." (See State v. Frankel (N.J. 2004) 847 A.2d 561, 568.) "It is difficult to imagine a scenario in which immediate police action is more justified than when a human life hangs in the balance." (United States v. Holloway (11th Cir. 2002) 290 F.3d 1331, 1337.)

The emergency aid doctrine, or "emergency doctrine" in some jurisdictions, is now recognized throughout the country as a lawful basis for *entering and searching* a residence when circumstances require immediate action. ⁸ The test is an objective one, which does not take into account an

See, e.g., United States v. Martins (1st Cir. 2005) 413 F.3d 139,
 147; Tierney v. Davidson (2nd Cir. 1998) 133 F.3d 189, 196; Good v.
 Dauphin County Social Services (3rd Cir. 1989) 891 F.2d 1087, 1093;
 (continued...)

officer's subjective state of mind. (*Brigham City, Utah v. Stuart, supra*, 547 U.S. at p. 404; accord, *United States v. Valencia* (8th Cir. 2007) 499 F.3d 813, 815.) Further, a "reasonable belief that an emergency exists" is "a less exacting standard than probable cause." (See *United States v. Quezada, supra*, 448 F.3d at p. 1007; accord, *United States v. Holloway, supra*, 290 F.3d at p. 1336; see also *United States v. Najar, supra*, 451 F.3d at p. 718 [the "inquiry determining the existence of an exigency is essentially one of reasonable belief"].)

^{(...}continued)

Hunsberger v. Wood (4th Cir. 2009) 570 F.3d 546, 554; United States v. Troop (5th Cir. 2008) 514 F.3d 405, 409; Causey v. City of Bay City (6th Cir. 2006) 442 F.3d 524, 528-529; United States v. Richardson (7th Cir. 2000) 208 F.3d 626, 627-631; United States v. Quezada (8th Cir. 2006) 448 F.3d 1005, 1007; United States v. Stafford (9th Cir. 2005) 416 F.3d 1068, 1073-1074; United States v. Najar (10th Cir. 2006) 451 F.3d 710, 718-720; United States v. Holloway, supra, 290 F.3d at p. 1336; Hotrum v. State (Alaska Ct.App. 2006) 130 P.3d 965, 968; State v. Fisher (Ariz. 1984) 686 P.2d 750, 760-761; People v. Hebert (Colo. 2002) 46 P.3d 473, 478-479; State v. Fausel (Conn. 2010) 993 A.2d 455, 461-462; Guererri v. State (Del. 2007) 922 A.2d 403, 406-408; Riggs v. State (Fla. 2005) 918 So.2d 274, 280; State v. Drennan (Kan. 2004) 101 P.3d 1218, 1231-1232; People v. Meddows (III.App. 1981) 427 N.E.2d 219, 222; Wilson v. State (Md.Ct.App. 2009) 975 A.2d 877, 886-887; Commonwealth v. Snell (Mass. 1999) 705 N.E.2d 236, 242-743; People v. Davis (Mich. 1993) 497 N.W.2d 910, 920; State v. Lemieux (Minn. 2007) 726 N.W.2d 783, 787; State v. Illig (Neb. 1991) 467 N.W.2d 375; State v. Frankel, supra, 847 A.2d at pp. 598-609; State v. Ryon (N.M. 2005) 108 P.3d 1032, 1039-1040); People v. Molnar (N.Y. 2002) 774 N.E.2d 738, 740; State v. Matthews (N.D. 2003) 665 N.W.2d 28, 32-34; State v. White (Ohio App. 2008) 886 N.E.2d 904, 910-911; Duquette v. Godbout (R.I. 1984) 471 A.2d 1359, 1362; State v. Deneui (S.D. 2009) 775 N.W.2d 221; Laney v. State (Tex.Crim.App. 2003) 117 S.W.3d 854, 861-862; State v. Comer (Utah App. 2002) 51 P.3d 55, 62-63; Reynolds v. Commonwealth (Va.App. 1990) 388 S.E.2d 659, 663-664.

⁹ The "subjective motive" analysis by this Court in *Ray* was not followed in *Brigham City*. (See *People v. Ray* (1999) 21 Cal.4th 464, 477 (lead opn. of Brown, J.).)

In this case, the officers who entered and searched the Abeyta residence had an objectively reasonable basis for believing that additional victims needing immediate aid could have been inside the house. The record in this case is replete with the details of frightful crime scene. This was not a call of a cold burglary or a prowler: this scene was the aftermath of a violent shooting and physical attack. Sergeant Albright arrived alone, out of uniform, to find Mia Zapata shot multiple times and Abeyta bleeding profusely from a head injury on the porch outside the two-story residence. (RT 5-8, 35-36, 40, 42, 46.) He did not see a male victim, reported in the dispatch as possibly shot twice. (RT 4, 15.) He did not know Abeyta's connection to the residence or his role in the shooting. (RT 7, 10.) Ms. Zapata was constantly screaming, and Sergeant Albright had to give a civilian volunteer instructions on how to administer first aid to her while attempting to evaluate the scene. (RT 35-36, 40, 42.) Neighbors were running around in the street, uniformed officers were arriving, and emergency vehicles were approaching with sirens activated. (RT 5, 16, 42, 43.) There was blood all over the porch, and he could tell from the smudges of blood near the handle on the locked front door that someone who was bleeding had either gone into or come out of the residence. (RT 41, 45.) Added to this chaos and cacophony was the bizarre behavior by the only person on the scene connected to the residence who could talk to the officer. Sergeant Albright felt that he could not rely on the accuracy of Abeyta's denial that someone was in the house, and he was concerned that others could be inside. (RT 9-11, 24.) He could not see inside the residence because the blinds were down, and the activity and ambient noises outside prevented him from focusing on any sounds coming from the interior. (RT 19, 41-43.)

On these facts, any reasonable officer would believe that it was necessary to enter the residence without delay and search for any additional victims, particularly a male shooting victim identified in the dispatch report. Reasonable, responsible officers could not simply hope for the best because "it does not meet the needs of law enforcement or the demands of public safety to require officers to walk away from a situation " (See Michigan v. Fisher, supra, 130 S.Ct. at p. 549.) 10 In deciding the reasonableness of an officer's actions under the emergency aid doctrine, it is appropriate look to whether it would be a dereliction of duty to abandon an investigation and jeopardize a potential victim's safety. (See *People v*. Hochstraser (2009) 178 Cal. App. 4th 883, 902; People v. Seminoff (2008) 159 Cal. App. 4th 518, 530.) It is not enough to say that the situation was ambiguous, that additional victims or suspects might not have been inside the Abeyta residence. Peace officers are "expected to aid those in distress, combat actual hazards, prevent potential hazards from materializing, and provide an infinite variety of services to preserve and protect community safety." (United States v. Rodriguez-Morales (1st Cir. 1991) 929 F.2d 780, 784-785; accord, People v. Ray, supra, 21 Cal.4th at p. 467 (lead opn. of Brown, J.).) Officers responding to emergency situations often must make "an on-the-spot judgment based on incomplete information and sometimes ambiguous facts bearing upon the potential for serious consequences" (see United States v. Martins, supra, 847 413 F.3d at p. 147), and courts must "examine the conduct of those officials in light of what was reasonable

¹⁰ As Justice Nicholson stated in his dissent:

Society expects law enforcement to come to the aid of victims, even under stressful and dangerous circumstances. "Erring on the side of caution is exactly what we expect of conscientious police officers."

⁽Dis. Opn. by Nicholson, J., at 3, quoting *United States v. Black* (9th Cir. 2007) 482 F.3d 1035, 1040.)

under the fast-breaking and potentially life-threatening circumstances that were faced at the time" (*State v. Frankel, supra*, 847 A.2d 561, 568, citing *Terry v. Ohio* (1968) 392 U.S. 1, 21-22; see also, *Wayne v. United States, supra*, 318 F.2d at p. 212 ["the business of policemen and firemen is to act, not to speculate or meditate on whether the report is correct"]). The officers in this case knew that someone who was bleeding had come out of or gone into the Abeyta residence: the chance of a victim in need of aid not only permitted the entry but, more pointedly, demanded it.

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