# SUPREME ( IT COPY

#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA,

NO. S180759

Plaintiff and Respondent,

SUPREME COURT
FILED

ALBERT TROYER,

JUL 2 7 2010

Defendant and Appellant.

Frederick K. Ohlrich Clerk

Deputy

Court of Appeal, Third District, Case No. C059889

Sacramento County Superior Court, Case No. 07F06029

The Honorable Laurie Earl, Judge Presiding

#### APPELLANT'S ANSWERING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

J. Wilder Lee (SBN: 168442)
Attorney at Law
360 Ritch Street, Suite 201
San Francisco, CA 94107
415-495-3115
Attorney for Appellant, Albert Troyer
by appointment of the Supreme Court
under the Central California Appellate

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

Some courts have held that the other two prongs of the *Mitchell* test are still valid. (See *State v. Ford* (2010) 2010 VT 39.)

Fisher, which closely follows the reasoning of Brigham City, does not address whether a lesser standard than one approximating probable cause will justify a warrantless entry.

exigent circumstances – should apply. (See also *Hunsberger v. Wood* (4<sup>th</sup> Cir. 2009) 570 F.3d 546, 554 (distinguishing community-caretaking searches from the emergency aid doctrine and finding that the exigent circumstances analysis applies to the latter.)

In *People v. Ray*, (1999) 21 Cal.4th 464, a plurality of the California Supreme Court found that a standard less than probable cause could support a warrantless search under the emergency aid exception.<sup>11</sup> The emergency aid exception was characterized as a "component" of the community caretaking exception to the warrant requirement. (*Id.* at p. 472.) That plurality found that a lesser standard than probable cause was appropriate because the police were not engaged in crime investigation: "[a]ny intention of engaging in crime-solving activities will defeat the community caretaking exception even in cases of mixed motives." (*Id.* at p. 477.)

The plurality's rational – that a lesser standard than probable cause is justified only when the police have no intention of engaging in crime solving activities – does not survive the rejection of a subjective intent element in determining the reasonableness of searches by the United States

by Justices Werdegar and Chin, that upheld the search based on "reasonable cause" that an exigent circumstance existed. Justice Mosk dissented.

The lead opinion in *Ray* was by Justice Brown with Justices Kennard and Baxter concurring. Chief Justice George wrote a concurring opinion, joined

Supreme Court in *Brigham City*. <sup>12</sup> If the reasons underpinning this Court's adoption of a lesser standard have been undermined, then this Court should reconsider whether the use of a lesser standard remains justified. As explained above, the use of a standard lower than one approximating probable cause for the emergency aid exception has never been adopted by the United States Supreme Court. Here, when this Court's basis for adopting a lesser standard has been abrogated and no other justification offered, then a standard equivalent to probable cause should apply.

# C. A Home Is Entitled to Greater Protection Under the Fourth Amendment

The fact that the search at issue here was of a home provides further grounds for applying the more stringent probable cause standard. "It is a bedrock principle that the prophylaxis of the Fourth Amendment is at its zenith with respect to an individual's home." (*United States v. Martins, supra*, 413 F.3d at p. 146.) An "overriding respect for the sanctity of the home ... has been embedded in our traditions since the origins of the

<sup>11</sup> 

The United States Supreme Court has not addressed how the holding of Brigham City should be reconciled with that of Cady v. Dombrowski, supra, 413 U.S. at p. 441, in which the Court upheld a warrantless vehicle search, as a "community caretaking function[], totally divorced from the detection, investigation, or acquisition of evidence relating to the violation of a criminal statute."

Republic." (*Payton v. New York, supra*, 445 U.S. at p. 601.) "[P]hysical entry of the home is the chief evil against which the wording of the Fourth Amendment is directed." (*United States v. United States District Court* (1972) 407 U.S. 297, 313 [92 S. Ct. 2125; 32 L. Ed. 2d 752].) "[A] private home [is] where privacy expectations are most heightened." (*Kyllo v. United States* (2001) 533 U.S. 27, 33 [121 S. Ct. 2038; 150 L. Ed. 2d 94].)

In *Cady v. Dombrowski, supra*, 413 U.S. at p. 442, the Court, in finding that the search of a wrecked car was reasonable, specifically noted there was a "constitutional difference between searches of and seizures from houses and similar structures and from vehicles ..." One cannot assume that a standard equivalent to reasonable suspicion that applies to searches outside a home can also be applied to search of a home. The standard of probable cause ensures that the home receives the "heightened" protection from unwarranted government intrusion that was intended under the Fourth Amendment.

# D. Under the Facts of this Case, The Search of the Residence Was Not Justified Under the Emergency Aid Exception

While there was an emergency outside the home, there was no evidence that the emergency extended inside the home. Neither the probable cause standard or a lesser standard support the search. As a result, the initial entry into the home violated Troyer's Fourth Amendment rights.

Albright responded to a call of a shooting. (RT 15.) When he arrived at the scene, he found, a person who had been shot and another with a head wound. (RT 5, 36.) Although respondent claims that Abeyta did not match the description of the reported male victim who had possibly been shot (resp. brief, p. 2), the record indicates that Albright did, in fact, believe Abeyta to be the reported male victim. (RT 8; see also Statement of Facts, supra, p. 6, fn. 2.) He had no information that anyone else had been injured in any way. He did not know who lived at 9253 Gem Crest Way. (RT 7, 10, 22.) There was no evidence that the shooting actually occurred at that address. There was blood on the outside of the front door, but that, in and of itself, could not be particularly significant given that there was "blood surrounding the scene" and Abeyta, highly agitated and excited, was covered in blood and was "moving around" on the four by ten foot front porch. (RT 6-7, 8, 44.)

Albright had no knowledge of what or who was in the house other

than Abeyta's statement that no one was inside. The blinds on the window were drawn, and the front door was locked; he saw nothing inside the house. (RT 12, 19-20.) Albright was not satisfied with Abeyta's answers because he had a head injury and gave different replies. (RT 9.)

Albright admitted to "not knowing what, if any, potentially other victims could be beyond the doorway." (RT 10.) These things that Sergeant Albright did not know are not articulable facts that give rise to a reasonable suspicion but rather hunches, or facts that he would like to know but does not know. The facts known to Albright were that all known suspects had fled and all known victims were outside the home. "The police cannot use the 'possibility' of an emergency to avoid the warrant requirement." (*People v. Allison* (Colo. S. Ct. 2004) 86 P.3d 421, 427.) Here, there was no more than a possibility that the emergency extended into the home.

Respondent relies upon the cases of *Tamborino v. Superior Court* (1986) 41 Cal.3d 919, and *People v. Hill* (1974) 12 Cal.3d 731 (overruled on separate grounds in *People v. DeVaughn* (1977) 18 Cal.3d 889), for the proposition that an emergency outside a home justifies entry into the home. On their facts, both cases are inapposite.

In *Tamborino*, police responded to a reported robbery at a particular address where a victim was believed to be inside, injured and bleeding.

(Tamborino v. Superior Court, supra, 41 Cal.3d at pp. 921-922.) "No description was given of either the robber or his victim/victims." (Id. at p. 922.) There were spots of blood outside the apartment and a neighbor confirmed that an injured person was inside. (Ibid.) When the police knocked on the door, they heard the sound of movement inside the apartment but no one responded. (Ibid.) They kicked in the door. (Ibid.) Tamborino was standing in the living room bleeding from the right side of his face, "although not profusely," with "quite a bit of blood on his head, neck and hands." (Ibid.) Not knowing if Tamborino was a suspect or a victim, the officers brought Tamborino outside the apartment and immediately re-entered to determine whether there were any other injured persons inside the apartment. (Ibid.) At that point, police observed cocaine and drug paraphernalia in plain view on the coffee table. (Ibid.)

The facts of *Tamborino* distinguish it from Troyer's case. In *Tamborino*, the police had reports of an emergency occurring *inside* the home that were confirmed by a neighbor. The police had no report about the number of victims. The amount of blood on Tamborino was inconsistent with the size of his observable wound.

In *People v. Hill, supra*, 12 Cal.3d 731, police investigating a shooting "knew only that a shooting had very recently occurred and that one

person suffering from serious wounds had been brought to a hospital." (*Id.* at p. 755.) At the scene, they observed fresh bloodstains on a fence and porch outside the house and, through a window, saw fresh blood on the floor inside the house. (*Ibid.*) After entering the residence, police seized items in plain sight. (*Id.* at p. 756.) Here, the police saw blood *inside* the house which, coupled with the lack of information about the number of victims, justified entry.

In contrast to both *Tamborino* and *Hill*, in Troyer's case, the emergency found by the police was *outside* the home. Albright testified that before the search he had understood Abeyta to be the injured victim identified in the dispatch call. (RT 8.) The police observed nothing inside the home that indicated an additional victim – or anyone else – was inside. Thus, in *Hill* and *Tamborino* there was a direct nexus between the emergency and the area searched that is not present in Troyer's case.

Respondent further cites, briefly, *United States v. Mason*, (D.C. Cir. 1992) 966 F.2d 1488. (Resp. Brief, p. 12.) A fuller recitation of the facts in that case than proffered by respondent demonstrates that it is factually distinguishable. In *Mason*, police knew that the shooters had been inside that apartment when the shooting occurred. The shooting victim had sought refuge in a neighboring apartment. The door to the victim's apartment was

ajar and noises emanated from within. (*Id.* at 1490.) Moreover, during the sweep of the apartment, no evidence of a crime was found. (*Id.* at p. 1493, fn. 4.) The issue in *Mason* was whether a subsequent consent to search was tainted (it was not). (*Id.* at p. 1491.)

In claiming that Abeyta's "odd and evasive" answers justified entry into the house, respondent cites to *United States v. Russell* (9<sup>th</sup> Cir. 2006) 436 F.3d 1086, for a proposition for which the case does not stand. (Resp. Brief, p. 13.) In *Russell*, the police responded to calls indicating that two men had been shot inside a house. At the scene, two officers immediately entered the residence, while a third officer talked to the reticent male shooting victim who was outside the house. (*Id.* at p. 1089.) That victim's refusal to answer questions was not used by the Court in its evaluation of whether entry into the home was justified. (*Id.* at p. 1090.) Respondent errs by claiming otherwise. Moreover, unlike the uncooperative shooting victim in Russell, Abeyta cooperated with the police (aside from refusing consent to enter) and answered their questions. That Abeyta may not have heard questions or rephrased his answers when Albright asked the same question again is understandable given his wounds and the chaos on the porch.

More germaine to the application of the emergency aid exception in Troyer's case are the holdings of *Hannon v. State*, (Nev. 2009) 207 P.3d

344, and *People v. Allison*, supra, 86 P.3d 421. In *Allison*, police responded to a residence "after a 911 hang-up call." (Id. at p. 423.) A woman with a bloody nose answered the door and said that she and her husband had been in a dispute. She eventually consented to the entry. (*Ibid.*) The downstairs of the two-story house was in disarray – there was broken furniture, broken glass on the floor, and smashed dishes. The police met the woman's husband coming down the stairs. Both the woman and her husband were taken outside the home by the police. Both told the police that no one else was injured. The husband stated that another man lived in the house but he did not know whether that man was home. The police officers did not believe the woman or her husband. A police officer then re-entered the home without consent to see if there was "possibly somebody upstairs injured." Upstairs, the officer saw a bag of marijuana. (Id. at p. 424.) The Colorado Supreme Court found that the emergency aid exception did not apply because "no evidence existed demonstrating the involvement of a third party who might be involved and require assistance." (*Id.* at p. 429.)

In *Hannon, supra*, 207 P.3d 344, police responded to a call that a domestic disturbance had occurred at a home. (*Id.* at p. 345.) A "red-faced, crying" woman opened the door. In the background, police saw her husband

who looked "flushed and 'angry." The woman admitted there had been a verbal argument but insisted that nobody was injured and nobody else was in the home. The officer, demanding entrance, literally pushed his way into the home where he saw marijuana. (*Ibid.*) Holding that the emergency aid exception did not apply, the Nevada Supreme Court overruled the lower court's denial of the suppression motion and found that "there was no objectively reasonable basis to believe that a third party was injured inside." (*Id.* at p. 347.)

Both these case found that the theoretical possibility that a third party might be injured could not support entry into a home under the emergency aid exception. (See *Hannon v. State, supra*, 207 P.3d at pp. 347-348; *People v. Allison, supra*, 86 P.3d at p. 428.) "[A] 'true emergency' exists if there are reliable, objective indicia of a potential victim of a dangerous circumstance or a potential perpetrator of a dangerous act. Suspicious circumstances or 'gut instinct' are insufficient." (*State v. Burdick* (Ore. Ct. App. 2006) 209 Ore. App. 575, 581, 149 P.3d 190, 194.)

At the hearing below, Albright testified that he responded to the scene of a shooting and found two victims outside the house. There was no indication that a third party had been injured.<sup>13</sup> As Albright testified, he did

Respondent's theory that Abeyta did not fit the description of the reported

not know "what, if any, potentially other victims could be beyond that doorway" and sought entry "[t]o find a suspect or a victim, if that truly existed." (RT 10, 25.) Albright does not identify any evidence that points to the existence of an injured third party. He sought entry on the theoretical possibility that an injured third party might exist. Albright did not testify that there was an identifiable third party who might be injured. Without such an identifiable potential victim, the entry into Troyer's home was not reasonable.

## E. Even If the Initial Entry into Troyer's Home Was Justified, The Entry into the Locked Upstairs Bedroom Was Not Reasonable

"[A] search which is reasonable at its inception may violate the Fourth Amendment by virtue of its intolerable intensity and scope.

[citations omitted]" (*Terry v. Ohio, supra*, 392 U. S. at p. 18.) "[T]he greater the intrusion, the greater must be the reason for conducting a search that results in such invasion." (*United States v. Afanador* (5<sup>th</sup> Cir. 1978) 567 F.2d 1325, 1328 citing *United States v. Love* (S.D. Tex. 1976) 413 F. Supp. 1122, 1127.) Just as "the investigative methods employed [during a

male who had been shot is not supported by the evidence adduced and was not argued by the prosecutor at the hearing.

detention] should be the least intrusive means reasonably available to verify or dispel the officer's suspicion in a short period of time" so should the methods employed during search under the emergency aid doctrine.

(Florida v. Royer (1983) 460 U.S. 491, 500 [103 S. Ct. 1319; 75 L. Ed. 2d 229] (plurality opn.).)

Below, the Court of Appeal determined that, at the time the officers kicked open the locked upstairs bedroom door, the suspicion that an injured person was inside the home had been dispelled. The Court of Appeal found the entry into Troyer's home reasonable based upon the blood on the exterior of the door. (Slip opn., p. 9.) Once inside, the lack of blood or signs of a struggle dispelled the suspicion that an injured person was within. (Slip opn., p. 10.)

Respondent proffers the argument that the reasonableness of a search is static, depending only upon the circumstances known at the initiation of the search. (Resp. Brief, p. 14.) In support of this proposition, respondent cites to *Mincey v. Arizona, supra*, 437 U.S. at p. 393. Respondent misconstrues *Mincey*. In *Mincey*, the Court stated that "a warrantless search must be 'strictly circumscribed by the exigencies which justify its initiation." (*Ibid.*, quoting *Terry v. Ohio, supra*, 392 U.S., at 25-26.) The Court found that, even if the initial entry into Mincey's apartment was

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